FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 3/5/2020 4:13 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/11/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 36414-3-III 98261-9

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE PHOENIX INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

MICHELSEN PACKAGING COMPANY, a Washington Corporation; NORTHWEST WHOLESALE INCORPORATED, a Washington Corporation, and DOES 1-20,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Phoenix Insurance Company, the subrogee of Blue Bird, Inc. ("Blue Bird") asks this Court to grant review of the decision of the Court of Appeals terminating review set forth in part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division III filed its opinion on February 6, 2020. A copy is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-6.

C. INTRODUCTION/ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents an important issue of statewide significance on the duty of property owners owed to their neighbors to prevent the spread of fire to those neighboring properties. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Division III's decision on breach of duty is contrary to numerous decisions of our courts on breach of duty as a question of fact for the jury. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

The issue for review is:

Where neighboring property owners owed a duty of care to Blue Bird as to the spread of fire from combustible materials negligently maintained on their premises, did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that Blue Bird did not present sufficient evidence of those neighbors' breach of that duty where that issue is ordinarily a question of fact, and Blue Bird offered expert testimony clearly documenting a breach of that duty?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division III's opinion offers only a skeletal description of the facts, op. at 2-3, necessitating a more detailed discussion of the facts here.

Blue Bird, Michelsen Packaging Company ("Michelsen") and Northwest Wholesale, Inc. ("Northwest") operate businesses in the fruit harvesting, packaging, and distribution industries in Wenatchee's commercial warehouse district. CP 572. Operating related businesses in close proximity to one another, they are intermittently both competitors and customers of one another. CP 560, 572. Founded in 1913, Blue Bird is the oldest cooperative of fruit growers, packers and shippers in Central Washington; its Wenatchee location is central to its cherry operations. CP 572.

Michelsen is a "leading produce packaging and equipment manufacturer and distributor" with a primary service area covering the entirety of North America. CP 564. Michelsen's business is primarily focused on manufacturing paper and plastic products that have been specially designed for shipping and packaging fresh produce. *Id.* At the time of the fire here, it stored its inventory in an outdoor yard. CP 8, 14-15. Michelsen also provided recycling services at its Wenatchee location, commonly referred to as Central Washington Recycling. CP 566. As part of its recycling operations, Michelsen allowed the public to drop off large quantities of loose cardboard, which were then baled, stacked, and stored on its premises. *Id.* The Michelsen recycling facility was open to the public twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week. CP 201. This lot was not

monitored or secured, and any person was permitted to enter and exit at any time, day or night, and for whatever purpose. CP 596.

Northwest provided a number of support services to the entire fruit industry, particularly packaging services. CP 573. It routinely stored materials in an outdoor yard. CP 8, 14, 15. At the time of the fire that gave rise to this action, Michelsen leased the northernmost portion of the property from Northwest, while Northwest operated its own facilities in the immediately adjacent areas, sharing a north-south lot line with Michelsen. Blue Bird's facility is located nearby to the southeast.

Michelsen/Northwest regularly stored large amounts of combustible material in their exterior yards. CP 541. Both Michelsen/Northwest stored their inventory in a compact line that ran along the eastern border of their properties and met at their shared north/south lot line. *Id.* Michelsen/Northwest did not leave a sufficient amount of space between their shared lot line and their respective inventory. CP 542. These stacks of combustible products stretched from the north side of the Michelsen property all the way down to the southern lot line. CP 568, 574. Michelsen also did not leave any space between their stacks, so that the stored inventory created a single large stack that collectively covered a massive amount of square footage. *Id.* Northwest, the property's owner, was in a position to observe the situation daily, but did not intervene or address the

dangerous state of the combustibles in any way and permitted this situation to persist.

Blue Bird's well-qualified expert, Albert Simeoni, opined that because Michelsen did not maintain any space between its stacks of inventory along the shared north/south line, it created a continuous fuel load between the two properties that would allow a fire to spread quickly and to be suppressed only with great difficulty. CP 541-43, 572. Further, Michelsen's expert, Mark Yaple, described the area of the Michelsen yard, where Michelsen allowed customers to dump truck loads of loose cardboard, as a "natural collection point" for embers or other burning materials. CP 201-02. The net effect of Michelsen's practices was that it created an unsecured fire hazard at its place of business. Instead, it actively invited the public to have access to that location without supervision. Michelsen created conditions that "amounted to a perfect catastrophe waiting to happen." CP 542. Despite these risks, Michelsen continued to allow its yard to remain in this condition.

At about 2:30 on June 28, 2015, a wildfire was reported near Sleepy Hollow Road in Chelan County. CP 199. That fire consumed approximately 2,950 acres in an area near Wenatchee. CP 596. That night, a fire also broke out on Michelsen's premises. CP 201. It was just one of

many fires that ignited within, and ultimately consumed, a significant portion of the Wenatchee warehouse district. *Id.*

Significantly, the parties' experts agreed that a fire started in the Michelsen yard, and that the Michelsen fire then ultimately spread to the south to the rest of the warehouse district, including Blue Bird's premises. On the night of June 28, 2015, the wind blew from north to south. CP 201. Michelsen's premises were the northernmost boundary of the area damaged by the Michelsen fire. All of the other damaged properties, including Blue Bird's, were "downwind from the recycling center [on Michelsen's premises] and NW Wholesale." CP 203. Blue Bird's expert, Paul Way, opined that the fire spread from the Michelsen/Northwest properties to Blue Bird's property. CP 548 ("Once ignited, the Michelsen fire caused large pieces of burning debris to be lifted into the air and carried by the wind toward other nearby commercial properties including but not limited to, Stemilt and Blue Bird, Inc."). Mark Yaple, Michelsen's expert, agreed that the fire at the Blue Bird warehouse emanated from the Michelsen/Northwest properties. CP 204 ("All the fires in the Broadview area are consistent with ignition by a wildland fire originating in the Sleepy Hollow area, or from homes burning from this exposure to the next home, spread through unseasonal hot, dry weather, and extreme wind conditions); then embers from these fires igniting combustibles in the warehouse district, probably in Michelsen Packaging and/or Northwest Wholesale, which in turn sent embers to Stemilt warehouse and Blue Bird Fruit warehouses.") (emphasis added). These flaming pieces of debris ultimately landed on Blue Bird's warehouse and burned it to the ground, causing \$48 million in damages. CP 586, 600-01, 879.

Phoenix paid claims submitted by Blue Bird under a valid insurance policy for its fire loss² and then filed the present action to recover against Michelsen/Northwest for their negligence in causing that loss. CP 1-11.

The trial court recognized that Michelsen/Northwest owed Blue Bird a duty of care, CP 898-900, and it rejected the Michelsen/Northwest motions to strike Blue Bird's experts' testimony, CP 607-35, 909, but, nevertheless, it granted the Michelsen/Northwest motions for summary judgment in an October 2, 2018 letter ruling. It concluded that Blue Bird

¹ The trial court acknowledged this agreement of the experts. CP 897 ("Way agrees with Mark Yaple's conclusion that the fire at Michelsen Packaging and/or NW Wholesale, sent embers to Stemilt warehouse and Blue Bird Fruit warehouse.").

² In the property insurance setting, under principles of subrogation, a doctrine rooted in equity, an insurer has the right by contract to recover what it pays to an insured under a policy by suing a tortfeasor responsible for the insured's loss. The insurer, in effect, steps into the shoes of the insured. *Touchet Valley Grain Growers, Inc. v. Opp. & Seibold Gen. Constr., Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 334, 341, 831 P.2d 724 (1992); *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 411-18, 957 P.2d 632 (1998). Subrogation is favored in Washington and is liberally allowed in the interests of justice and equity. *Id.* at 412.

failed to establish that Michelsen/Northwest's negligence was the proximate cause of the fire damage it experienced. CP 883-91.³

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

(1) Michelsen/Northwest Owed a Duty of Care to Blue Bird

Division III did not overturn the trial court's correct formulation of the duty that Michelsen/Northwest owed Blue Bird for the maintenance of their premises and to prevent the spread of fire from those premises to neighboring properties. CP 889. It assumed, without holding, that a duty existed. Op. at 5.

Washington law provides both a statutory and common law duty on the part of property owners to prevent the spread of fire by their negligence to neighboring properties. The Legislature created a statutory cause of action for parties harmed by a premises owner's negligence in allowing a fire to spread from that owner's property. RCW 76.04.730 provides that "it is unlawful for any person to negligently allow fire originating on the person's own property to spread to the property of another." In *Oberg v. Dep't of Natural Resources*, 114 Wn.2d 278, 787 P.2d 918 (1990), this Court readily determined that DNR, as a landowner, had a statutory duty to

Petition for Review - 7

³ In so ruling, the trial court appeared to labor under the misconception that Blue Bird had to prove that burning debris originated from the Michelsen/Northwest properties in order for Blue Bird to recover against them. CP 890 ("...there is no evidence to establish the origins of these large embers.").

provide adequate protection against the spread of fire from its land. Critically, the fire's specific origin did not determine the existence of the duty. Instead, the important point is that a landowner (whatever the fire's origin) allowed a fire to spread. The *Oberg* court noted that the origin of the fire on DNR's property was lightning, and that such an origin "is of no consequence." *Id.* at 282.⁴ Division III's opinion does not mention the statutory duty.

In addition to a statutory duty of care, a common law duty exists, as the *Oberg* court noted. 114 Wn.2d at 283. Indeed, as early as 1917, this Court found a common law duty to be present even if the landowner had no fault in the fire's origin; the landowner is still liable for the fire's spread. *Sandberg v. Cavanaugh Timber Co.*, 95 Wash. 556, 558, 164 Pac. 200 (1917). In *Sandberg*, the defendant was a logging company engaged in logging on its land. A fire started on its land close to a donkey engine that was being used in the logging operations. The fire spread to plaintiff's farm some two miles away, destroying the barn, outbuildings, hay and feed, and various farm implements. There was a dispute about the defendant's alleged negligence in starting the fire, but as the Court stated, that question

_

⁴ See also, Dep't of Natural Resources v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Klickitat County, 187 Wn. App. 490, 349 P.3d 916, review denied, 184 Wn.2d 1006 (2015) (DNR authorized by RCW 76.04.495(1) to recover fire suppression costs from any entity "whose negligence is responsible for the starting or existence of a fire which spreads on forest lands...").

"is of no moment in our present inquiry." *Id.* at 557. Rather, the Court stated the question for the establishment of common law liability to be:

Was appellant, having knowledge of the starting of the fire upon its own premises, required by law to exercise due diligence looking to the prevention of the spreading of the fire to respondent's property; and would the failure on the part of appellant to exercise due diligence in that behalf render it liable to respondent as for negligence?

Id. at 558.

As the trial court here noted, CP 887-88, this principle has been reinforced in decisions like *Prince v. Chehalis Savings & Loan Ass'n*, 186 Wash. 372, 58 P.2d 290 (1936) and *Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pac. Railroad Co. v. Poarch*, 292 F.2d 449 (9th Cir. 1961). The gravamen of the common law duty is whether a landowner has taken appropriate steps to prevent the spread of a fire from its premises. *Prince*, 186 Wash. at 375 ("The courts generally support the rule ... that evidence as to the origin of the fire is not a necessary element to entitle a recovery where the property causing the fire has gotten into such a condition that it creates a fire hazard, and that, if fire should occur on it, it is reasonably probable that it would spread to the adjacent property.").

In *Chicago, M., St. P. & P.R.*, the Ninth Circuit affirmed a judgment for the plaintiff, stating:

[O]nce it is established that the owner of a building has negligently allowed it to become a fire hazard and a fire does start the actual cause—whether deliberate, accidental, or act of God—is immaterial. The negligence is not in the ignition of the fire but rather it is in allowing a condition to exist which will be reasonably likely to cause injury to another if a fire does start.

292 F.2d at 451.⁵ Whether a defendant breaches its duty by maintaining the property in such a manner as to create a fire hazard is for the jury. *Id*.

Further, the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 302 confirms that a premises owner owes a duty to anticipate the foreseeable negligent conduct of others or foreseeable risks of "forces of nature." Specifically, a premises

Liability for damages for the spread of fire may be based on an owner's negligence in maintaining his premises in such a condition that fire is likely to occur. Therefore, when an owner negligently stores combustible or inflammable material on property so that it is reasonably foreseeable that fires will start and spread to the premises of another, he may be liable for damage caused when this occurs, although the fire starts accidentally.

See also, 35A Am. Jur. 2d Fires § 27.

⁵ This is in accord with the law of other jurisdictions as well. See, e.g., Ford v. Jeffries, 379 A.2d 111 (Pa. 1977) (discuss case). In Ford, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that a property owner owes a duty to a neighbor to maintain its property in a nonnegligent fashion to prevent the spread of fire. It was a fact question for the jury to determine if the property owner breached that duty and whether such breach was a substantial factor in the plaintiff's fire loss. See also, Steamfitters Local Union No. 602 v. Erie Ins. Exchange, 209 A.3d 158 (Md. App. 2019), cert. granted, 216 A.3d 937 (Md. 2019) (landowner owes a duty of care to avoid the likely spread of fire from its property). The majority rule in the United States, as noted in Liability of Property Owner for Damages from Spread of Accidental Fire Originating on its Premises, 17 A.L.R. 5th 547 at § 2[a], is set forth in Prince:

⁶ The risk of fire in the Wenatchee area in the summer months is fully foreseeable. After the events in this case, the summer months in the Wenatchee area have seen extensive fire activity. For example, news reports in June 2017 reported more than 50,000 acres ablaze near Wenatchee. "Wenatchee area fire grows to 45,000 acres and sends smoke into Spokane," *Spokesman-Review*, June 29, 2017. http://www.spokesman.com/stories/2017/jun/28/fire-evacuation-orders-issued-in-parts-of-grant-co/. A similar number of acres in the same vicinity were burning a little more than

owner must not create conditions on its premises that will cause a fire to start or to spread. In fact, the *Restatement* has two illustrations of these principles:

- 1. A sets a fire on his own land, with a strong wind blowing toward B's house. Without any other negligence on the part of A, the fire escapes from A's land and burns down B's house. A may be found to be negligent toward B in setting the fire.
- 2. A discovers on his land a fire originating from some unknown source. Although there is a strong wind blowing toward B's house, A makes no effort to control the fire. It spreads to B's land and destroys B's house. A may be found to be negligent toward B in failing to control the fire.

In sum, the trial court correctly determined that Michelsen/Northwest owed Blue Bird a duty of care to avoid allowing fire to negligently spread from their premises to Blue Bird's. Notwithstanding Division III's bare treatment of the duty issue, a landowner's duty to prevent the spread of fire to neighboring properties is currently a significant issue in this era of fires in our state. This Court has not revisited that duty, a significant public importance in our state, since *Oberg* was decided in 1990. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

a year later. "Wildfires blazing across Washington, fire risk high on Monday," *Seattle Post Intellingencer*, August 20, 2018. https://www.seattlepi.com/washington-wildfires/article/Wildfires-across-Washington-blazing-fire-risk-13168894.php. As for

2019, see https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2019 Washington wildfires.

-

(2) <u>Breach of Duty Should Not Have Been Addressed as a Matter of Law as It Is a Question of Fact for the Jury</u>

The trial court determined that Michelsen/Northwest owed Blue Bird a duty of care, but that any breach of that duty did not proximately cause Blue Bird's harm as a matter of law. CP 883-91. Division III did not even address that issue, op. at 4, in light of Blue Bird's extensive arguments that proximate cause was for the jury. Br. of Appellant at 21-32; reply br. at 28-31.⁷ The trial court did not address breach of duty anywhere in its decision. CP 883-91.

⁷ Nor could the trial court's decision be sustained in light of the unambiguous opinion of Blue Bird's expert, Paul Way, on the spread of the fire from the Michelsen/Northwest properties to Blue Bird's:

^{9.} Once ignited, the Michelsen Fire caused large pieces of burning debris to be lifted into the air and carried by the wind towards other nearby commercial properties, including but not limited to Stemilt and Blue Bird, Inc. *See* photograph taken by Rob Spradlin and attached hereto as Exhibit B.

^{10.} During my investigation, I spoke with Blue Bird employees, including Larry Blakely and Roger Sommers, who were on Blue Bird's premises during the Michelson Fire. Mr. Blakely witnessed a large piece of burning debris, which he believed to be cardboard, land on Blue Bird's exposed roof. Mr. Blakely and Mr. Sommers, [sic] attempted to extinguish the burning debris with a garden hose, but were unable to reach the flames. Both Mr. Blakely and Mr. Sommers witnessed the ignition of the Blue Bird facility due to this large piece of burning debris. Mr. Blakely stated that the debris had dimensions approximating 16 inches by 24 inches.

^{11.} I did not find any evidence that the Blue Bird property was ignited by a wildfire brand. The burning debris witnessed by Mr. Blakely and Mr. Sommers is not material that would originate from a wildland fire. Rather, the large piece of burning debris was consistent in size and shape to cardboard and is consistent with what one would expect to see originating from the Michelsen yard. The Blue Bird property was

Both Blue Bird experts were qualified and their testimony met the test for admission. *State v. Allery*, 101 Wn.2d 591, 596, 682 P.2d 312 (1984). Division III did not address Blue Bird's well-documented contention that its experts' testimony was properly before the trial court, op.

a victim of the fire that was burning in the commercial district. The fire burning in the commercial district originated on the Michelsen property.

CP 548-49 (emphasis added). Thus, Way unambiguously opined that the fire, however, it originated, emanated from the Michelsen/Northwest properties and damaged the Blue Bird property.

Way's analysis mirrors the conclusions originally drawn by Yaple in his role as the Wenatchee Fire Marshall in 2015. CP 204. His report stated that he interviewed an unnamed Blue Bird employee who was on the roof at the time of the Michelsen fire because he was attempting to put out fires on the roof with a garden hose. CP 203. Yaple took photographs of the burn holes on an adjacent roof in an area near Blue bird's loading dock that had been timely extinguished. *Id.* After examining these burn marks, Yaple opined that "these holes would require large embers to ignite this roof membrane, similar to those found on the Millers side of the complex." *Id.* Those "similar" pieces of debris were separately described in Yaple's report as being "15-16 inches across." CP 202. Thus, Michelsen's own expert identified secondary burn marks on the Blue Bird warehouse roof that were consistent with the eyewitness testimony of Blue Bird's employees that large pieces of flaming cardboard were the cause of Blue Bird's damages.

Yaple's report noted that the debris observed at and around Blue Bird's warehouse was of a different kind and quality than the Sleepy Hollow fire embers that were found farther to the north. CP 202. The "embers" from the Sleepy Hollow fire primarily consisted of "shakes and pine needle debris," consistent with the type of small and light material that could travel some distance from a wildland fire. *Id.* By contrast, the debris found in the vicinity of Blue Bird appeared to be "from a synthetic product or material." *Id.* Michelsen's collection of combustible materials in its recycling business was a natural collection point for embers, according to Yaple. *Id.*

^{12.} I reviewed the report authored by Mark Yaple. I agree with his conclusion that the fire at Michelsen Packaging and/or Northwest Wholesale, [sic] "sent embers to Stemilt warehouse and Blue Bird Fruit warehouses."

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