FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/24/2020 10:26 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98261-9

# SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# THE PHOENIX INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Petitioner,

v,

MICHELSEN PACKAGING COMPANY, a Washington corporation; and NORTHWEST WHOLESALE INCORPORATED, a Washington corporation, and DOES 1-20.

Respondents.

## NORTHWEST WHOLESALE INCORPORATED'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Troy Hunter, WSBA No. 29243 INJURY LAW GROUP NW 410 Newport Way Northwest, Suite C Issaquah, Washington 98027 Telephone: (425) 313-1184 Facsimile: (425) 313-1858 Email: Troy@injurylawgroupnw.com

Attorneys for Respondent Northwest Wholesale Incorporated

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW

## A. NO ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST OR CONTRADICTION OF EXISTING LAW.

A decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion. *See State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). However, the present case does not have that potential since the underlying courts based their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 922, FN 4 (October 2, 2018 letter ruling of Judge Robert B. McSeveny quoting from Yaple Dec., Ex. 2, pg. 5) (emphasis added).

decisions on well-settled law on case specific facts, or the lack thereof, on the negligence elements of breach and proximate cause.

Division III of the Court of Appeals decided the appeal without oral argument and in an unpublished opinion affirmed summary dismissal finding "insufficient evidence that defendants breached a duty to Blue Bird." *See* Petition – A-1. The Court of Appeals assumed that Michelsen (and perhaps NWI but it is unclear) owed a duty to maintain its property in a reasonable manner to avoid creating a fire hazard. *Id.*, at A-5. The Court of Appeals held that because the issue of breach was dispositive of the case it did not need to reach other issues such as proximate causation and whether the declarations of Phoenix's experts should be stricken on grounds of speculation and lack of foundation. *Id.*, A-4. The Court of Appeals could have affirmed on any of these grounds as can this Court on Review.

None of these grounds implicate policy decisions nor do they risk "confusing" legal practitioners or the citizenry. Rather, long-standing Washington law (and Civil Rule 56) make it clear that in order to survive summary judgment, the non-moving party must present specific facts as foundation of their expert's opinions in purported support of their claims. *Seven Gables Corp. v. MGM/UA Entm't Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986). Phoenix's failure to present competent evidence does not create an issue of substantial public interest or contradict established law.

#### **B.** TRIAL COURT DETERMINED DUTY OF CARE

The trial court noted that the rule in Washington is that a possessor of land is held to a standard of care to maintain the premises so that it does not become a hazard that "if fire should occur in it, it is reasonably probable that it would spread to the adjacent property." CP 920-921; *See also Prince v. Chehalis Sav. & Loan Ass 'n*, 186 Wash. 372, 375, 58 P.2d 290 (1936).

In *Chicago, M., St. P. & P.R. v. Poarch*, 292 F.2d 449 (9th Cir. 1961), the Ninth Circuit applied Washington law on the basis of the rule pronounced in *Prince*. The railroad had allowed the vacant portion of an icehouse to become a fire hazard by permitting inflammable materials to accumulate and had not taken reasonable steps to prevent children and itinerants from gaining access. A fire broke out and spread to the plaintiff's buildings, resulting in a total loss. *Id.* at 450. The duty to maintain the property in such a manner as not to present a fire hazard was a question of fact properly submitted to the jury. *Id.* at 451. Here, Division III assumed without holding that Respondents Michelsen and NWI owed such a duty. *Court of Appeals Opinion at p. A-5.* 

# C. PHOENIX FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROOF ON BREACH.

The trial court went on to find there was an issue of fact sufficient to submit to a jury on the issue of whether <u>Michelsen</u> breached its duty of care to maintain its property in such a manner as to not present a fire hazard to adjoining properties. CP 889.<sup>7</sup> In so finding, the trial court noted that Phoenix's expert, Albert Simeoni, stated that the "manner in which <u>Michelsen</u> stored its inventory stretching from the north end of the property down to the southern lot line, created the source for a high intensity fire. By not providing breaks in its inventory, a large fuel load resulted which resulted in a large fire plume lofting flaming debris into the sky." *Id*.

However, the trial court also noted that Phoenix did not cite any standards which were breached by Michelsen or NWI. In contrast, Michelsen provided Fire Marshal Yaple's declaration that Michelsen had never violated the fire code based upon the manner in which it stored materials in its yard. CP 182. Similarly, NWI provided the declaration of Kenneth Knappert that demonstrated it too had undergone many safety inspections with no violation for fire safety. CP 824.

Ultimately, the trial court found that it was the nature of Michelsen's recycling center that lent itself to an issue of fact on whether <u>the Michelsen</u> <u>property</u> posed a hazard. CP 889. The trial court further noted that the nature of the hazard, involving loose cardboard, was a significant risk because the large embers from such burned materials could be set adrift in the wind and

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  The facts, findings and ruling on this issue were specific to Michelsen and not imputable to NWI.

pose a severe risk to the surrounding areas. *Id.* The trial court's ruling, like Phoenix's Complaint and answers to discovery, does not implicate NWI in the breach of duty holding. Nowhere does the trial court find an issue of fact as to whether NWI breached any duty owed to Blue Bird. The recycling center is Michelsen's and it does not appear to be in dispute that the fire in the warehouse district first originated on Michelsen's property. There are simply no facts or claims from which a genuine issue of material fact can be derived as to whether NWI breached any duty to Blue Bird.

Clearly, Division III of the Court of Appeals understood this and properly held that the Petitioner had submitted insufficient evidence that NWI breached any duty owed to Blue Bird. *Court of Appeals Opinion p. A-5*. Petitioner failed to cite to any fire safety standard or code violated by NWI and failed to explain what duty NWI owed or breached to Blue Bird located half a mile away during a high wind, wildfire event. The duty is to exercise reasonable care and there is no evidence that NWI failed to act reasonably under the circumstances.<sup>8</sup>

Lastly, Petitioner contends RCW 76.04.730 creates a duty NWI owed to Blue Bird. However, RCW 76.04.730 expressly applies <u>only</u> to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The duty to use reasonable care extends only to such risks of harm as are foreseeable. *Bernethy v. Walt Failor's, Inc.,* 97 Wn.2d 929, 933, 653 P.2d 280 (1982). Thus, "[t]he concept of foreseeability limits the scope of the duty owed." *Christen v. Lee,* 113 Wn.2d 479, 492, 780 P.2d 1307 (1989).

"forestlands" and not fires within city limits. Therefore, NWI owed no statutory duty to Petitioner that was in turn breached.

#### D. NWI MET ITS LIMITED DUTY AS A LANDLORD

Phoenix has argued and still seems to suggest that since NWI owned the property that was leased to Michelsen at the time of the Sleepy Hollow Fire that it should have some liability for the loss. This is unsupported by Washington law. At the time of the fire, Michelsen had sole possession and use of the Michelsen property. Phoenix has the burden of establishing that as a mere landlord of the Michelsen property, NWI owed to Blue Bird a separate duty with regards to Michelsen's possession and use of its property. This, Phoenix has failed to do.

Phoenix erroneously relied upon the Washington Supreme Court case of *Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs.*, 116 Wn.2d 217, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991) for this proposition. However, the case supports NWI's arguments and Division III's dismissal of Phoenix's claims against NWI on in the issue of breach.

Nor has Phoenix established that NWI had any notice, actual or constructive, that any such conditions were hazardous or dangerous such that the fire at issue would have resulted. Absent such a showing, dismissal on summary judgment is appropriate as it was in *Charlton v. Toys R Us – Delaware Inc.*, 158 Wn. App. 906, 246 P.3d 199 (2010).

## E. PHOENIX FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN ON CAUSATION

The trial court correctly ruled that Phoenix and its experts offered nothing more than speculation and conjecture on the issue of proximate cause and properly dismissed Phoenix's claims against Respondents. The trial court's decision should be affirmed by this Court if review is granted and the Court gets past the Court of Appeals ruling on the breach element.

# 1. To Survive Dismissal on Summary Judgment, Phoenix Needs More Than Speculation and Conjecture.

To justify submission of a negligence claim to a jury, Phoenix must offer evidence of the causal connection between their claimed damages and Northwest's alleged negligence. *See Kennett v. Yates*, 45 Wn.2d 35, 39, 272 P.2d 122 (1954). Phoenix must establish that the harm suffered would not have occurred but for an act or omission of NWI, and that the cause in fact of the plaintiff's harm should be deemed the legal cause of that harm. *Little v. Countrywood Homes, supra*, 132 Wn. App. at 778.

Phoenix's burden of proving proximate cause is not met unless the proof is sufficiently strong to remove that issue from the realm of speculation by establishing facts affording a logical basis for all inferences necessary to support it. *Gardner v. Seymour*, 27 Wn.2d 802, 809, 180 P.2d 564 (1947); *see also Martini v. Post*, 178 Wn. App. 153, 165, 313 P.3d 473 (2013). Causation is speculative when, after considering all the facts, the

injuries were just as likely to have occurred due to one cause as another. *Moore v. Hagge*, 158 Wn. App. 137, 148, 241 P.3d 787 (2010), *rev. denied*, 171 Wn.2d 1004 (2011).

Proximate cause may be determined as a matter of law where reasonable minds could not differ. *Briggs v. Pacificorp*, 120 Wn. App. 319, 323, 85 P.3d 369 (2003), *rev. den.*, 152 Wn.2d 1018 (2004). The question should be decided as a matter of law only if there is no genuine issue of fact as to the question of proximate cause. *LaPlante v. State*, 85 Wn.2d 154, 159–60, 531 P.2d 299 (1975).

Here, as the trial court pointed out, Phoenix failed in its burden on causation due to the speculative nature of its evidence, which is not sufficient to defeat dismissal on summary judgment under CR 56 or warrant review by this Court:

...no legitimate inference can be drawn that an accident happened in a certain way by simply showing that it *might* have happened in that way, and without further showing that it could not reasonably have happened in any other way.

Gardner v. Seymour, 27 Wn.2d 802, 810, 180 P.2d 564 (1947); see also

Browne v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 698 F.2d 370, 371 (9th Cir. 1982).

Where causation is based on circumstantial evidence, the factual determination may not rest upon conjecture; and if there is nothing more substantial to proceed upon than two theories, under one of which a defendant would be liable and under the other of which there would be no liability, a jury is not permitted to speculate on how the accident

#### occurred.

Sanchez v. Haddix, 95 Wn.2d 593, 599, 627 P.2d 1312 (1981) (emphasis added).

The mere fact that Blue Bird may have in fact suffered damages and property loss on June 28, 2015, does not alone entitle Phoenix to put the Respondent and the court through the expense and rigors of a trial. *Marshall v. Bally's Pacwest, Inc.*, 94 Wn. App. 372, 377, 972 P.2d 475 (1999).

## 2. Phoenix's Experts Offer Speculation and Conjecture and Their Opinions Based Thereon Should Be Stricken

While it is the duty of the jury to decide what weight to give evidence in its deliberations, it is the function of the court to ensure that expert testimony has sufficient validity to warrant admission into evidence. *See Daubert v. Merrill Dow Pharms., Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993). The Court should act as a "gatekeeper" to ensure evidentiary reliability. *See generally Reese v. Stroh*, 74 Wn. App. 550, 559-60, 874 P.2d 200 (1994) ER 702 permits experts to testify on "scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge" if the testimony "will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue."

Phoenix failed to recognize that inherent in ER 702 is a crucial requirement that expert testimony must be based on more than mere speculation. *See Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 590 ("[T]he word 'knowledge' connotes more than subjective belief or unsupported speculation.").

In fact, courts must be especially careful when ruling on speculative expert testimony because of the "danger that the jury may be overly impressed with a witness possessing the aura of an expert." *Moore v. Hagge*, 158 Wn. App. 137, 154, 241 P.3d 787 (2010) (citing *Davidson v. Mun. of Metro. Seattle*, 43 Wn. App. 567 at 571-72). Speculative expert testimony must be excluded to ensure the jury does not consider such information, since a verdict cannot rest upon conjecture or speculation. *Prentice Packing & Storage Co. v. United Pac. Ins. Co.*, 5 Wn.2d 144, 164, 106 P.2d 214 (1940). As such, "it is well established that conclusory or speculative expert opinions lacking an adequate foundation will not be admitted. *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 148, 34 P.3d 835 (2001) (citing *Safeco Ins. Co. v. McGrath*, 63 Wn. App. 170, 177, 817 P.2d 831 (1991), *rev. denied*, 118 Wn.2d 1010, 824 P.2d 490 (1992)).

Mr. Albert Simeoni's expert declaration is rife with opinions given without any explanation of their underlying factual support. CP 540-545. Mr. Simeoni provides these statements without any references to facts in the record, let alone *specific* facts. Nor does Mr. Simeoni make any specific factual findings or allegations against NWI. Likewise, Mr. Paul Way's declaration fails to adequately derive support from specific facts in the record as required for admissibility and should likewise not be considered. CP 546-556. These opinions declared by Mr. Way are offered as evidence without any factual support or explanation. They too are focused on Michelsen's potential liability and not NWI.

The trial court has wide discretion in ruling on admissibility of expert testimony. However, this Court has the authority to disturb the trial court's ruling if the reasons for admitting or excluding opinion evidence are not fairly debatable. *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 148, 34 P.3d 835 (2001). This includes when the trial court's "discretionary decision is contrary to state law." *State v. Nation*, 110 Wn. App. 651, 661-62, 41 P.3d 1204 (2002).

## V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Petition for Review should be denied. The existing opinion is not contrary to existing law and does not involve an important issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeal's unpublished opinion should be affirmed on multiple grounds, primary being that Petitioner has been found by multiple judiciaries to have failed in their burden of proof on multiple elements, including breach of duty and proximate cause. This basic failure of essential evidence does not warrant review by this Court. DATED this 24<sup>th</sup> day of April, 2020.

ī

Respectfully submitted,

# ISSAQUAH LAW GROUP, PLLC

<u>s/ A. Troy Hunter</u>

A. Troy Hunter, WSBA No. 29243 410 Newport Way Northwest, Suite C Issaquah, Washington 98027 Attorney for Respondent Northwest Wholesale Incorporated